RECEIVED

Jul 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Shannon M. Phillips, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2022-000393

U.S. Bank Trust, N.A. as Trustee for LSF10 Master Participation Trust,.....Respondent,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the lower court err reversibly in granting summary judgment on liability to Respondent?**

- II. Did the lower court err reversibly in prospectively permitting Respondent to use affidavits rather than live testimony at trial?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the grant of partial summary judgment, including summary judgment on liability, to the Respondent, U.S. Bank Trust, N.A. as Trustee for LSF10 Master Participation Trust (hereinafter “U.S. Bank”).

U.S. Bank sued the Appellant, Austin A. Lowery a/k/a Austin Lowery a/k/a Austin Allen Lowery a/k/a Allen Lowery, individually and as heir or devisee of the Estate of Lisa D. Lowery (hereinafter “Lowery”), in 2019, seeking foreclosure of a mortgage on 53.73 acres of land and a judgment that a mobile home was part of the mortgaged property. (R. pp. 35-46.) The complaint alleged debt under the mortgage pursuant to a note dated September 24, 2002, alleged that the note was in default since May of 2004, and alleged that a release of the mortgage had been “inadvertently recorded” in January of 2019. (R. pp. 37-45.) The complaint alleged the note and mortgage were given to Household Finance Corporation II (hereinafter “Household”) and later assigned to U.S. Bank. (R. pp. 37-38.)

U.S. Bank then amended its complaint as of right, to reflect that Lisa Lowery, whom it had originally named as a defendant, had died in 2017. (R. pp. 55-65.) The other allegations of the complaint remained virtually identical, with U.S. Bank still seeking foreclosure of a mortgage on 53.73 acres of land and a judgment that a mobile home was part of the mortgaged property and still alleging debt under the mortgage pursuant to a note dated September 24, 2002, that the note was in default since May of 2004, and that a release of the mortgage had been “inadvertently recorded.” (R. pp. 55-65.)

Lowery answered the amended complaint and counterclaimed. (R. pp. 74-81.) Lowery noted that the property description added to the mortgage document was not in the document he signed and was added to the document later, as he had contemplated, with Household’s

knowledge, mortgaging five acres. (R. pp. 75, 79-80.) Lowery answered that the recording of the mortgage release was not an error and that U.S. Bank had released the mortgage. (R. pp. 75, 78.) He pled a number of affirmative defenses and a defense and counterclaim for violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102, commonly known as the attorney preference statute, in connection with the closing of the mortgage loan involved in this case, along with inducement of the mortgage loan by unconscionable conduct. (R. pp. 78-80.) Lowery noted that no attorney had supervised the closing. (R. pp. 80.)

By consent, U.S. Bank amended its complaint again, this time seeking foreclosure of the mortgage as to only five acres, relying on a different mortgage document executed six days after the one described in the first two complaints. (R. pp. 82-92.) The second amended complaint's allegations about debt and default dates remained the same as in the first two amended complaints. (R. pp. 82-92.)

Lowery again answered and counterclaimed. (R. pp. 93-100.) In response to U.S. Bank's allegations of a mortgage, Lowery answered that he "admits he signed something styled as a mortgage document; however, to the extent this document ever constituted a valid mortgage, it has been released. This is the same mortgage as that released mortgage described in [U.S. Bank]'s Amended Complaint in this case, just with a corrected property description. The recording of the release was not an error." (R. p. 94 ¶ 7.) Lowery pled affirmative defenses of release, unclean hands, the statute of limitations, res judicata, and laches. (R. pp. 96-98 ¶¶ 26-44.) He again also pled a defense and counterclaim for violation of the attorney preference statute, with the mortgage loan having been induced by unconscionable conduct. (R. pp. 98-99 ¶¶ 45-51.)

U.S. Bank moved to dismiss Lowery's counterclaim. (R. pp. 105-10.) The court heard and denied that motion. (R. pp. 18-20.) After the motion to dismiss was heard, Lowery swore and filed an affidavit that reads as follows:

2. I have read my answer and counterclaim filed on November 1, 2019, in this case, and I hereby verify that the factual statements in it are true.
3. My late wife, Lisa D. Lowery, and I got the mortgage that is involved in this case because we needed to refinance a construction loan. Time was a major factor, as our construction loan was about to mature.
4. The mortgage loan involved in this case was made by Household Finance Corporation II. (I will call them "Household" in this affidavit for ease of reference.) Household promised us a lower interest rate than we got. As we approached the closing date for the loan, Household told us that they could only make the loan at the high interest rate that is in the note, but they also said that they would refinance or modify the loan at a five percent fixed rate if we made our payments on time for one year.
5. Relying on this statement to be true, we went through with getting the loan.
6. We were never given any opportunity to choose a lawyer to represent us in closing the loan. No one asked us, in writing or otherwise, for our preference as to an attorney to represent us in connection with closing the loan. Household told us we did not need a lawyer and that they would close the loan themselves. They told us they closed loans without a lawyer all the time.
7. That is what they did. On September 24, 2002, we went to Household's office and were presented with the closing papers for the loan. We were not given advice or explanations of the documents. Instead, the Household employee who was with us just said things like "Sign here." We signed where the employee told us to sign. No lawyer was present at the closing.

8. Among the documents we signed at the closing on September 24, 2002, was the document that is Exhibit A to this affidavit.
9. What we intended to mortgage for this loan was five acres that is part of a 53-acre tract of land. We told that to the Household people, and they represented to us that the five-acre parcel was what was being mortgaged.
10. If any of the papers we signed at the closing had a property description of the 53-acre tract in them, that was not shown to us.
11. A few days after the closing, someone from Household called us and said that they had made an error in the mortgage and that we needed to come in and re-sign the same mortgage. We did that on September 30, 2002. No lawyer was present for that re-signing, either.
12. We made our payments on time for a year like Household said to do. I then contacted Household about getting the lower interest rate they had promised us. The Household people said we would have to apply for a refinance to do that. We applied, and Household turned us down.
13. Because of the two mortgage documents on record, one of which described the whole 53-acre tract, I was unable to get refinancing to get out of this mortgage with Household.

(R. pp. 310-12.) Exhibit A to Lowery's affidavit is a document styled as an attorney preference selection form that states "None" for preference as to attorney and which is dated September 24, 2002, the date of the mortgage loan closing. (R. p. 313.)

U.S. Bank moved for summary judgment on Lowery's counterclaim. (R. pp. 107-08.) Lowery moved for summary judgment on U.S. Bank's claims and for liability in his favor on his counterclaim. (R. pp. 110-17.)

The lower court denied Lowery's motions. (R. pp. 24-27.) The lower court granted U.S. Bank's motion for summary judgment but kept Lowery's attorney preference violation defense alive, ruling that "Lowery's counterclaim against U.S. Bank is dismissed WITH

PREJUDICE to the extent such counterclaim is asserted to secure an award of monetary damages and attorney's fees from U.S. Bank[,]” while also ruling that “[t]his order is without prejudice to Lowery’s right to raise his counterclaim as an equitable and statutory defense for the purpose of setoff or recoupment, or both, and introduce evidence in support thereof, to U.S. Bank’s request for foreclosure of the mortgage.” (R. pp. 28-34.)

Some months passed, and U.S. Bank moved for summary judgment as to the entire case. (R. pp. 118-25.) In support of this motion, U.S. Bank filed a number of documents, including the HUD-1 settlement statement for this loan, which gives a closing date of September 24, 2002, lists Household as the settlement agent, and contains no charges for attorneys’ fees. (R. pp. 143-45, 346-48.)

Among the materials that Lowery filed in opposition to this motion were an amended complaint from a 2008 action Household had brought to foreclose the mortgage, alleging the same default date as that alleged in the instant case, and the last order from that 2008 action, a Form 4 order filed July 26, 2013, that stated “IT IS ORDERED that this case is hereby stricken from the active roster for failure to prosecute, pursuant to Rule 40(j), and may be restored to the active docket without a filing fee once the parties are ready to proceed.” (R. pp. 278-87.) That order contains no indication that any party consented to what the court ordered in it. (R. pp. 286-87.)

On February 23, 2022, the lower court issued an order stating that “[t]he only issues remaining after this order are the amount of the debt and the amount of [Lowery]’s set off/recoupment.” (R. p. 1.) The lower court decided that “Lowery has failed to come forward with sufficient facts which would create a genuine issues [sic] of material fact to lead this court to conclude that the agreement or transaction to have been unconscionable at the time it was

made, or to have been induced by unconscionable conduct. Therefore, U.S. Bank is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.” (R. p. 10.) The order ruled as follows:

Plaintiff is granted summary judgment as to Defendant’s affirmative defenses of res judicata, release and unconscionability.

Plaintiff is granted summary judgment as to Defendant’s liability for foreclosure subject to submitting by affidavit appropriate documentation supporting the amount of the debt at least three days prior to a final hearing.

Defendant is granted judgment by way of offset only for an attorney preference violation subject to submitting the amount claimed for the offset by way of affidavit at least three days prior to a final hearing.

(R. p. 11.)

Lowery moved for reconsideration or at least clarification of this order, pointing out, among other things, that the court had not addressed his laches defense and that the order’s affidavit procedure to be used for the trial of the case infringed upon his right to cross-examine U.S. Bank’s witness or witnesses. (R. pp. 171-75.) The court denied this motion. (R. pp. 14-17.)

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

U.S. Bank’s predecessor, Household, put Lowery and his wife (to whose interest he has succeeded) in a very bad spot, depriving them of the benefit of an attorney to represent them in the closing and taking advantage of the disadvantage at which Household put them, inducing them to enter into this loan with false promises. (R. pp. 310-12.) Household’s refusal to use a lawyer in closing the mortgage loan – despite South Carolina law requiring attorney supervision of mortgage closings from 1987 forward – resulted in Household recording a

document in the land records stating that it held a mortgage on 53.73 acres of Lowery's land, not just five. (R. pp. 311-12, 331-35.) Household employees slipped the 53.73 acre description in without Lowery ever having an opportunity to see it and stop them, since they added it after he signed the mortgage document. (R. pp. 311, 331-35.) This document remained in the land records for over 16 years, along with the one that Household did in an attempt to correct its mistake, effectively preventing Lowery from ever refinancing the mortgage and getting free of the mortgage relationship Household created. (R. pp. 116-17, 312, 331-35.)

Once U.S. Bank got the mortgage, it released it. (R. pp. 116-17.)

Household, in whose shoes U.S. Bank now stands, sat idly by and did nothing to challenge or attempt to change the order that improperly ended its foreclosure case under Rule 40(j), SCRPC. (R. pp. 286-87.) It let this matter sit, doing nothing to attempt to collect any debt from Lowery.

On a summary judgment motion, when the record was required to be viewed in the light most favorable to Lowery, the lower court ruled that there was not even a genuine issue about whether any of that mattered and, to boot, stripped Lowery of his ability even to cross-examine U.S. Bank's witnesses at trial. (R. pp. 1-13.) The lower court did not just stop at flipping the standard and viewing the record in the light most favorable to the party that had *moved* for summary judgment – it also waved off the requirements of the Due Process Clause. (R. pp. 1-13.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard is that

summary judgment may be rendered only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Additionally, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts of the case is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.

Folkens v. Hunt, 290 S.C. 194, 196, 348 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1986) (citing Spencer v. Miller, 259 S.C. 453, 192 S.E.2d 863 (1972)).

“All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm., 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Bayle v. South Carolina Dep’t of Transp., 344 S.C. 115, 120, 542 S.E.2d 736, 738 (Ct. App. 2001); Hall v. Fedor, 349 S.C. 169, 173-74, 561 S.E.2d 654, 656 (Ct. App. 2002)) (internal citations omitted). If “the parties vehemently dispute the inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts, . . . that simply establishes that summary judgment is not appropriate[.]” Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 656 S.E.2d 20, 29 (2008) (citing Wilson v. Style Crest Products, Inc., 367 S.C. 653, 656, 627 S.E.2d 733, 735 (2006)).

When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.

Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008) (citing David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006); Rule 56(c), SCRPC) (internal citations omitted).

In 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified earlier confusion about whether a scintilla of evidence is sufficient to defeat summary judgment. See Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802-03 (2009). In Hancock, the Court held that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Id. at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803. More than a scintilla is required only in cases requiring heightened burdens of proof or applying federal law. Id. at 330-31, 673 S.E.2d at 803.

ARGUMENT

I. The record contains evidence supporting several affirmative defenses, and that evidence properly precluded summary judgment on liability.

Lowery pled several affirmative defenses to U.S. Bank’s claim. (R. pp. 96-98.) The record contained evidence supporting all of those defenses. (R. pp. 116-17, 145, 278-87, 310-13, 346.) Because evidence with a tendency to prove Lowery’s affirmative defenses was in the record, the lower court erred reversibly in granting U.S. Bank summary judgment on liability against Lowery. (R. pp. 1-13.)

a. The record contained evidence that the loan was induced by unconscionable conduct.

By providing an attorney preference form to Lowery and his wife at the time of closing, by failing to ascertain their preference as to a lawyer to represent them, and by deceiving them into believing a lawyer was not needed to close the mortgage loan, Household violated the attorney preference statute – as the lower court agreed. (R. pp. 10-11.)

In pertinent part, the attorney preference statute provides:

Whenever the primary purpose of a loan that is secured in whole or in part by a lien on real estate is for a personal, family or household purpose -

(a) The creditor must ascertain prior to closing the preference of the borrower as to the legal counsel that is employed to represent the debtor in all matters of the transaction relating to the closing of the transaction and except in the case of a loan on property that is subject to the South Carolina Horizontal Property Act (Section 27-31-10 et seq.) the insurance agent to furnish required hazard and flood property insurance in connection with the mortgage and comply with such preference.

The creditor may comply with this section by:

(1) including the preference information on or with the credit application so that this information shall be provided on a form substantially similar to a form distributed by the administrator; or

(2) providing written notice to the borrower of the preference information with the notice being delivered or mailed no later than three business days after the application is received or prepared. If a creditor uses a preference notice form substantially similar to a form distributed by the administrator, the form is in compliance with this section.

S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102.

A lender violates S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102 when it fails to “ascertain *prior to closing* the preference of the borrower as to the legal counsel that is employed to represent the debtor in all matters of the transaction relating to the closing of the transaction” and by failing to “comply with such preference.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a) (emphasis added). Our Supreme Court has noted that “the suggestion that the attorney preference statute disclosure may be made at closing borders on frivolity.” King v. Am. Gen. Finance, Inc., 386 S.C. 82, 91, 687 S.E.2d 321, 326 (2009).

The attorney preference statute is in Chapter 10 of the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code, which is codified in Title 37 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. A statute

in the same chapter, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105, provides the remedies for a violation of § 37-10-102, stating:

A) If a creditor violates a provision of this chapter, the debtor has a cause of action, other than in a class action, to recover actual damages and also a right in an action, other than in a class action, to recover from the person violating this chapter a penalty in an amount determined by the court of not less than one thousand five hundred dollars and not more than seven thousand five hundred dollars. No debtor may bring a class action for a violation of this chapter. No debtor may bring an action for a violation of this chapter more than three years after the violation occurred, except as set forth in subsection (C). The three-year statute of limitations applies to actions commenced after May 2, 1997. No inference should be drawn as to the applicable statute of limitations for any pending actions. ***This subsection does not bar a debtor from asserting a violation of this chapter in an action to collect a debt which was brought more than three years from the date of the occurrence of the violation as a matter of defense by recoupment or set-off in such action.***

(B) No creditor may be held liable in an action brought under this section for a violation of this chapter if the creditor shows by a preponderance of evidence that the violation was not intentional and resulted from a bona fide error notwithstanding the maintenance of procedures reasonably adapted to avoid the error.

(C) If the court finds as a matter of law that the agreement or transaction is unconscionable pursuant to Section 37-5-108 at the time it was made, or was induced by unconscionable conduct, the court may, in an action other than a class action:

(1) refuse to enforce the agreement, or a term, or part of the agreement or transaction that the court determines to have been unconscionable at the time it was made;

(2) enforce the remainder of the agreement without the unconscionable term or part, or limit the application of the unconscionable term or part to avoid an unconscionable result;

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