THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Apr 10 2023

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Shannon M. Phillips, Master-in-Equity

Common Pleas Case No. 2019-CP-42-02270
Appellate Case No. 2022-000393

U.S. Bank Trust, N.A., as Trustee for LSF10 Master Participation Trust,
..... Respondent,

v.

Austin A. Lowery a/k/a Austin Lowery a/k/a Austin Allen Lowery a/k/a Allen Lowery,
individually, and as Heir or Devisee of the Estate of Lisa D. Lowery a/k/a Lisa Marie Davis
Lowery, Deceased; South Carolina Department of Revenue; The United States of America acting

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

The court properly concluded that there are no genuine issues of material fact that Lowery intended to and did give Plaintiff a mortgage on the 5.0 tract in consideration of the loan and to secure the promissory note. The court also properly concluded that Lowery did not provide sufficient facts to create a genuine issue of material fact that this subsequent mortgage for 5.0 acres was released. Summary judgment on this defense was proper and should be affirmed.⁷

b. Unconscionability

In a prior order, Judge Cooper granted Plaintiff partial summary judgment on the Defendant's claim of unconscionability as it related to the offensive use, to the extent the Defendant sought a money judgment and attorney's fees and costs against Plaintiff as assignee from HFC II. Judge Cooper's order was without prejudice to Lowery's right to raise his counterclaim as an equitable and statutory defense for the purpose of setoff or recoupment.

S.C. Code Ann. §37-5-108(c) allows the court to use its *equitable* powers and discretion if it finds as a matter of law the agreement or transaction to have been unconscionable at the time it was made, or to have been induced by unconscionable conduct. Lowery bases his unconscionability argument on several factors which he argues collectively support a finding of unconscionability.

⁷ Lowery also argued in his brief that since the mortgage was released the statute of limitation on the note is now three years and the action barred; however, for the reasons just argued, the mortgage was not released and this argument is moot.

First, he asserts that the violation of the attorney preference statute is unconscionable conduct.⁸ This same argument was raised and rejected in *Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 330 S.C. 388, 498 S.E.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1998). In *Lackey*, the trial court held that an arbitration clause included in a retail installment contract for the purchase of a manufactured home was unconscionable and unenforceable, in part, because Green Tree failed to comply with the attorney-preference statute, “tantamount to denying each buyer the right to consult counsel.” *Id.* at 398, 498 S.E.2d at 903. The South Carolina Supreme Court rejected this conclusion and stated, “Contrary to the holding of the trial court in this case, we do not read *First Baptist Church of Timmonsville*⁹ to establish a bright line test rendering an arbitration clause unenforceable where a contract somehow prevents a party from consulting a lawyer. But even if it did, there is nothing in the contract which prevented respondents from consulting legal counsel.” *Lackey* at 399, 498 S.E.2d 904. Furthermore, Lowery has failed to point out which provision or provisions in the promissory note or the mortgage are unconscionable that counsel would have allegedly protected him from. Plaintiff served discovery requesting this information but received no answer or response.

Lowery also argues that the absence of counsel at the closing is unconscionable conduct. While there is no doubt about the benefits of counsel at a closing, the court properly noted the distant closing date and the circumstances of a closing which occurred almost twenty years ago. “In determining unconscionability, courts are limited to considering facts and circumstances existing when the contract was executed.” *Hardee v. Hardee*, 348 S.C. 84, 95-96, 558 S.E.2d 264, 269-70 (Ct. App. 2001).

⁸ Lowery claims this is a “straw argument,” but it is clear from his brief that Lowery claims the violation of the attorney preference statute and lack of counsel is unconscionable conduct presumably excusing him from making payments of any kind or amount on his note since 2004.

⁹ *First Baptist Church of Timmonsville v. George A. Creed & Son, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 597, 281 S.E.2d 121 (1981).

Lowery mischaracterizes the point the master was making by noting the distant closing date and stating, “During that time, closings did occur without the presence of counsel.” The master, consistent with Supreme Court precedent, observed that *Matrix Fin. Servs. Corp. v. Frazer* was decided almost a decade after the Lowery closing, *prospectively* applying the unclean hands doctrine to potentially preclude equitable remedies to a lender of a loan closed without an attorney. 394 S.C. 134, 140, 714 S.E.2d 532, 535 (2011). Also, again, Lowery fails to show or allege how the absence of counsel materially prejudiced him in the terms of the note or mortgage.

Lowery does claim in his affidavit that HFC II promised he could refinance to a 5% rate if he made his payments for one year. However, the promissory note, which Lowery is charged with reading, provides for a reduction in rate of .50% at the end of the third year (36th month), fourth year (48th month), and fifth year (60th month) if Lowery makes his payments within 30 days of their due date and does not file bankruptcy (Exhibit 3, page 2, “Adjustment to Contract Rate.”). Lowery did not make it to 36 months and there is no evidence that he requested the refinance or offered payments at the 5% rate.

Unconscionability is characterized by the “absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms which are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *Fanning v. Fritz's Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 399, 402, 472 S.E.2d 242, 245 (1996) (emphasis added). In this case, Lowery has offered no evidence that he could not have sought a loan elsewhere or that the terms of his loan were “so oppressive that no reasonable person would

make them.” Lowery admits as much by failing to respond to the Plaintiff’s discovery requests and Requests for Admission concerning these same points, quoted below:¹⁰

INTERROGATORIES

1. If you contend that the Note and/or Mortgage are unconscionable for any reason, please explain in reasonable detail as to why.
2. If you contend that any specific provisions in the Note and/or Mortgage are unconscionable, please identify each provision and explain why the provision is unconscionable.

...

5. If you contend you were prejudiced from the alleged absence of an attorney at closing, please explain how you were prejudiced and what, if anything you expected an attorney would do differently?

...

REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION

1. Please provide copies of any documents which you contend support any alleged claim of unconscionability.

...

4. Please provide copies of any documents supporting efforts to refinance.

...

REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION

1. Admit or Deny that you are in default under the terms of the Plaintiff’s Note and Mortgage for failing to make the payments when due.
2. Admit or Deny that you could have sought a loan elsewhere from another lender.
3. Admit or Deny that there are no terms in the Plaintiff’s Note or Mortgage which are so oppressive no reasonable person would make them.

(R. 126-132)

Lowery did not respond to these requests or offer any discovery responses in support of his opposition to Plaintiff’s summary judgment motion. In *Nexstar Media Grp., Inc. v. Davis*

¹⁰ See exhibits to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment Interrogatories, Requests for Production and Supplemental Requests for Admission served October 5, 2021. (R. 126-132). Lowery claims in his motion to reconsider that Defendant's affidavit contained all the information sought in Plaintiff’s discovery requests.

Roofing Grp., LLC, the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote, “This court has affirmed the seriousness of the ramifications for a failure to respond to requests in a timely matter. 431 S.C. 593, 602-03, 484 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2020). In *Scott v. Greenville Hous. Auth.*, this court stated, “South Carolina has long had the discovery rule that failure to respond to requests for admissions renders any matter listed in the request conclusively admitted for trial.” 353 S.C. 639, 645, 579 S.E.2d 151, 154 (Ct. App. 2003). The *Scott* court further noted: “Our courts have repeatedly found that failure to respond to requests for admissions deems matters contained therein admitted for trial, regardless of whether the admission concerns a matter responded to in a party’s pleadings.” *Id.* at 646, 579 S.E.2d at 154-55.

Furthermore, S.C. Code Ann. §37-5-108(c) is subject to the equitable powers and discretion of the court. Lowery made payments for a little over 18 months on the promissory note and the mortgage. The HUD-1 Closing Statement reflects that Lowery received \$304,040.62 and had several debts paid and walked away from closing with \$13,535. (R. 143-45) It would be inequitable to allow Lowery to receive this benefit, fail to make payments since 2004, and then argue his note and mortgage are unenforceable because of unconscionability based on alleged fraud in the inducement which he raises for the first time almost 17 years after signing the note and mortgage.

Lowery implies unconscionability and evil intent in HFC II’s mistaken recording of a mortgage with the incorrect legal description. However, it is undisputed this was quickly corrected (within a week) by recording a mortgage with the proper legal description and Lowery admits that the 5.0-acre mortgage which is being foreclosed is what he intended and did execute. The other mortgage with the incorrect description was released.

As quoted by Lowery in his appellate brief, “Unconscionability simply means “[e]xtreme unfairness.” Black’s Law Dictionary, 1663 (9th ed. 2009). There is no evidence of extreme

unfairness in Lowery's loan or closing. The extreme unfairness here is to the Plaintiff who has loaned Lowery \$304,040.62 with no repayment since 2004. In short, Lowery failed to come forward with sufficient facts which would create a genuine issues of *material* fact to lead the court to conclude that the agreement or transaction to have been unconscionable at the time it was made, or to have been induced by unconscionable conduct. Therefore, U.S. Bank was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.

c. Res Judicata

Lowery argues that the bank is barred from filing the present foreclosure by the doctrine of res judicata. Lowery contends that the court's prior striking of a foreclosure action filed by Household Finance Corporation, II¹¹ (HFC II) filed July 26, 2013, precludes the bank from bringing the current foreclosure action. This contention lacks merit as can be seen from the face of the Form 4 Order striking the prior foreclosure action. (R. 286-87) Under the doctrine of res judicata, a litigant is barred from raising issues previously adjudicated between the parties in a subsequent action. *See Hilton Head Ctr. of S.C., Inc. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of S.C.*, 294 S.C. 9, 11, 362 S.E.2d 176, 177 (1987). Res judicata requires three elements: "(1) a judgment that is final, valid, and on the merits; (2) the parties in the second action are identical to those in the first; and (3) the subsequent action must involve a subject matter properly included in the first action." *Owenby v. Owens Corning Fiberglas*, 313 S.C. 181, 183, 437 S.E.2d 130, 132 (Ct. App. 1993).

In this case, while it may be debatable whether the parties and the subject matter are identical¹², assuming arguendo these elements are satisfied, there never was an adjudication on the merits or final judgment in the first foreclosure. On its face, the Form 4 order strikes (but

¹¹ U.S. Bank's predecessor-in-title and assignor.

¹² Arguably, Household Finance Corp, II and U.S. Bank are not identical, although U.S. Bank is a successor by assignment and arguably payments accruing after the case was dismissed are different.

does not dismiss) the case pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCPP for failure to prosecute. Defendant argues this order is equivalent to an order of dismissal under Rule 41(b), SCRCPP “for other reasons” because the parties did not consent and therefore was with prejudice and adjudication on the merits. However, it was obvious the court did not intend for the dismissal to be under Rule 41 or with prejudice. The court could have checked the boxes for dismissal and for Rule 41 but did not. More importantly, *the order expressly provided for the parties to be able to restore the action when they were ready to proceed*. Thus, the order could not have been a final judgment on the merits for res judicata purposes. This order was not appealed and is the law of the case. If Lowery had wanted to contend that the dismissal had preclusive effect, he should have raised that issue with the judge who signed the order.

The court should further note the context of the order, the court struck this case *sua sponte* without notice or a hearing. It was clearly intended to be an administrative action until the parties were ready to proceed. “Restraint is particularly warranted when the prior action was dismissed on procedural grounds. *Garris v. Governing Bd. of S.C. Reinsurance*, 333 S.C. 432, 450, 511 S.E.2d 48, 57 (1998) (*quoting Kearns v. General Motors Corp.*, 94 F.3d 1553, 1556 (Fed. Cir. 1996)).

If the order was truly intended to be an order of dismissal with prejudice for lack of prosecution, a lot more due process is required. *McComas v. Ross*, 368 S.C. 59, 62, 626 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2006) (“In those cases where our supreme court has affirmed dismissal of actions based on a failure to prosecute, the dismissals were imposed to maintain the orderly disposition of cases in the face of repeated warnings to the offending party or multiple opportunities to proceed with trial, and only then upon a finding of unreasonable neglect.”). The master properly granted summary judgment on this issue.

d. Laches¹³

The party seeking to establish laches must show (1) delay, (2) that was unreasonable under the circumstances, and (3) prejudice. *Kelley v. Kelley*, 368 S.C. 602, 606, 629 S.E.2d 388, 391 (Ct. App. 2006). To establish laches as a defense, *the defendant must show* the complaining party unreasonably delayed its assertion of a right, thereby prejudicing the defendant. *Id.* “The determination of whether laches has been established is largely within the discretion of the trial court.” *Id.* at 607, 629 S.E.2d at 391. Additionally, for the defense of laches to be sustained, “the circumstances must have been such as to import that the complainant had abandoned or surrendered the claim or right which he now asserts.” *Id.* (quoting *Byars v. Cherokee County*, 237 S.C. 548, 560, 118 S.E.2d 324, 330 (1961)); *see also Jones v. Leagan*, 384 S.C. 1, 20, 681 S.E.2d 6, 16 (Ct. App. 2009).

“Delay alone is not enough to constitute laches; it must be unreasonable, and the party asserting laches must show prejudice.” *Gordon v. Drews*, 358 S.C. 598, 612, 595 S.E.2d 864, 871 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *Brown v. Butler*, 347 S.C. 259, 265, 554 S.E.2d 431, 434 (Ct. App. 2001)).

In this case, U.S. Bank’s predecessor, HFC II, filed a previous foreclosure suit which was stricken pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRPC and then after the paper changed hands, U.S. Bank brought the present suit within the statute of limitations period. The Defendant fails to articulate how the delay prejudiced him as he was always free to assert his claims in a lawsuit filed by him at any time. In his brief, Lowery argues the accumulation of interest, but of course this stems from his lack of payment and he could have challenged the interest rate or the loan at any time.

¹³ Lowery pled laches as an affirmative defense, but the master did not rule upon this issue in the order. Lowery raised this issue in the motion to reconsider but then asked the master to issue a form order summarily granting or denying the motion without a hearing. The master granted his request and filed a form order denying the motion. Respondent addressed the issue in the return to the motion to reconsider.

Furthermore, Laches is an equitable defense, and the Defendant has been inequitable. This court notes in the order the comment from Judge Cooper, “that there is no genuine issue of material fact as it would, under the facts and circumstances, be inequitable for Defendant to receive \$304,040.62 from Plaintiff which funds were in fact used to benefit the Defendant and it being clear that Defendant intended to and did give a mortgage to HFC II on the 5.0-acre parcel.” Also, the Defendant stopped making payments in 2004. If anything, U.S. Bank could claim laches against the Defendant for not making alleged claims concerning the closing of his mortgage loan sooner.

Finally, there is no evidence from Lowery that U.S. Bank or its predecessor HFC II suggested that it had abandoned or surrendered its claims to enforce the note and mortgage by foreclosure. The court should hold that Lowery’s laches defense lacks merit and affirm the master’s order.

e. Unclean Hands¹⁴

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